HOMOTOPY THEORY OF SPECTRAL SEQUENCES

MURIEL LIVERNET AND SARAH WHITEHOUSE

ABSTRACT. Let R be a commutative ring with unit. We consider the homotopy theory of the category of spectral sequences of R-modules with the class of weak equivalences given by those morphisms inducing a quasi-isomorphism at a certain fixed page. We show that this admits a structure close to that of a category of fibrant objects in the sense of Brown and in particular the structure of a partial Brown category with fibrant objects. We use this to compare with related structures on the categories of multi-complexes and filtered complexes.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
Acknowledgements	3
2. Preliminaries	3
2.1. Bigraded complexes	3
2.2. Filtered complexes	3
2.3. Multicomplexes	4
3. The category of spectral sequences	4
3.1. Definitions and basic properties	4
3.2. Pullback of surjections	5
4. Homotopy theory without model category structures	6
4.1. Almost Brown categories	7
4.2. Comparison with partial Brown categories of fibrant objects	8
5. Almost Brown category structures on spectral sequences	9
5.1. E_r -quasi-isomorphisms and r -fibrations	9
5.2. Mapping path space construction for spectral sequences	10
5.3. Homotopy theory of spectral sequences	12
5.4. r -homotopies	12
5.5. Generation of r -fibrations and acyclic r -fibrations	13
6. Comparisons with filtered complexes and multicomplexes	16
6.1. Filtered complexes	16
6.2. Multicomplexes	17
References	10

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification. 18G40, 18N40. Key words and phrases. spectral sequence, model category.

1. Introduction

Spectral sequences are important tools for computing homological and homotopical invariants. Many categories of interest have associated functorial spectral sequences, generally via an associated filtered chain complex.

The category of spectral sequences has a hierarchy of notions of weak equivalence. For $r \geq 0$, we have E_r -quasi-isomorphims, that is morphisms which are isomorphisms from the r+1 page onwards. In this paper we explore underlying homotopy theories with these weak equivalences.

Various categories with associated functorial spectral sequences, such as filtered complexes or multicomplexes, can be endowed with an r-model category structure, in which the weak equivalences are the maps inducing an isomorphisms from the r+1 page of the associated spectral sequence onwards [3, 4]. This motivates a study of the corresponding homotopy theory in the category of spectral sequences itself.

After some preliminary definitions and discussion in Section 2, we introduce the category of spectral sequences in Section 3. We study some basic properties, noting that this category is neither complete nor cocomplete. Therefore we cannot have model category structures and we will work with a weaker setting for homotopy theory.

Many such settings, intermediate between a category with weak equivalences and a model category, have appeared in the literature. Examples include Waldhausen categories [9], Cartan-Eilenberg categories [6] and categories of fibrant objects. The latter were introduced and studied by K.S. Brown in [1]. A summary of this theory can be found in [5, I.9]. That setting is the most relevant for us, but it is not precisely what we need.

In Section 4, we introduce the notion of an *almost Brown category*. As the name suggests this is a structure closely related to Brown's notion of category of fibrant objects. Like that setting, ours involves two distinguished classes of morphisms, weak equivalences and fibrations, satisfying certain axioms. We explore the connections as well as the relationship to the notion of partial Brown category in the sense of Horel [7].

We show in Theorem 5.3.1 that, for each $r \geq 0$, the category of spectral sequences admits the structure of an almost Brown category with E_r -quasi-isomorphims as weak equivalences and with fibrations characterised by surjectivity conditions. In particular, this means that we have a partial Brown category with fibrant objects, in the sense of Horel [7]. Indeed, we have a version with functorial path objects.

These results provide a context in which we can compare the homotopy theoretic structure of the category of spectral sequences with previous results establishing such structures for filtered complexes [3] and for multicomplexes [4]. We make a start on such comparisons in Section 6.

Acknowledgements. We would like to thank Geoffroy Horel for very helpful suggestions.

2. Preliminaries

In this preliminary section, we collect the main definitions that we will use. We begin with bigraded modules and r-bigraded complexes as these are underlying definitions for spectral sequences. Then we cover filtered complexes and multicomplexes, these being the main categories to be compared with spectral sequences later on.

Throughout this paper, we let R denote a commutative ring with unit.

2.1. Bigraded complexes. In this section we let $r \geq 0$ be an integer.

Definition 2.1.1. A bigraded R-module A is a collection of R-modules $A = \{A^{p,q}\}$ with $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Definition 2.1.2. An r-bigraded complex is a bigraded R-module $A = \{A^{p,q}\}$ together with maps of R-modules $\delta_r : A^{p,q} \to A^{p-r,q+1-r}$, called differentials, such that $\delta_r^2 = 0$. A morphism of r-bigraded complexes is a map of bigraded modules commuting with the differentials.

We denote by r-bC $_R$ the category of r-bigraded complexes. The homology of an r-bigraded complex is a bigraded R-module and the category of r-bigraded modules has a natural class of quasi-isomorphisms, namely morphisms inducing isomorphisms on homology.

- 2.2. Filtered complexes. We consider unbounded complexes of R-modules endowed with increasing filtrations indexed by the integers.
- **Definition 2.2.1.** A filtered R-module (A, F) is an R-module A together with a family of submodules of A denoted $\{F_pA\}_{p\in\mathbb{Z}}$ indexed by the integers such that $F_{p-1}A\subseteq F_pA$ for all $p\in\mathbb{Z}$. A morphism of filtered modules is a morphism $f:A\to B$ of R-modules which is compatible with filtrations: $f(F_pA)\subseteq F_pB$ for all $p\in\mathbb{Z}$.
- **Definition 2.2.2.** A filtered complex (A, d, F) is an unbounded cochain complex (A, d) together with a filtration F of each R-module A^n such that $d(F_pA^n) \subseteq F_pA^{n+1}$ for all $p, n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Note in particular that $(F_pA, d|_{F_p})$ is a subcomplex of (A, d). Denote by $\mathbf{F}C_R$ the category of filtered complexes of R-modules. Its morphisms are given by morphisms of complexes compatible with filtrations.
- **Definition 2.2.3.** Let $f, g: A \to B$ be two morphisms of filtered complexes. An r-homotopy from f to g is a morphism $h: A \to B$ of graded R-modules of degree -1, such that dh + hd = g f and $h(F_pA) \subseteq F_{p+r}B$ for all p. We write $h: f \cong g$.

Every filtered complex A has an associated spectral sequence $\{E_r(A), \delta_r\}_{r\geq 0}$. The r-page $E_r(A)$ is an r-bigraded complex and may be written as the quotient

$$E_r^{p,q}(A) \cong Z_r^{p,q}(A)/B_r^{p,q}(A),$$

where the r-cycles are given by

$$Z_r^{p,n+p}(A) := F_p A^n \cap d^{-1}(F_{p-r}A^{n+1})$$

and the r-boundaries are given by $B_0^{p,n+p}(A) = Z_0^{p-1,n+p-1}(A)$ and

$$B_r^{p,n+p}(A) := Z_{r-1}^{p-1,n+p-1}(A) + dZ_{r-1}^{p+r-1,n+p+r-2}(A)$$
 for $r \ge 1$.

Given an element $a \in Z_r(A)$, we denote by $[a]_r$ its image in $E_r(A)$. For $[a]_r \in E_r(A)$, we have $\delta_r([a]_r) = [da]_r$.

2.3. Multicomplexes.

Definition 2.3.1. A multicomplex or ∞ -multicomplex A is a bigraded R-module $A = \{A^{p,q}\}_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}}$ endowed with a family of maps $\{d_i \colon A \to A\}_{i \geq 0}$ of bidegree (-i, 1-i) satisfying for all $l \geq 0$,

(1)
$$\sum_{i+j=l} (-1)^i d_i d_j = 0.$$

Let $n \ge 1$ be an integer. An *n*-multicomplex is a multicomplex with $d_i = 0$ for all $i \ge n$.

For $1 \leq n \leq \infty$, a (strict) morphism of n-multicomplexes is a map f of bigraded R-modules of bidegree (0,0) satisfying $d_i f = f d_i$ for all $i \geq 0$. We denote by n-mC_R the category of n-multicomplexes and strict morphisms.

3. The category of spectral sequences

3.1. Definitions and basic properties.

Definition 3.1.1. A spectral sequence (A, ψ) is a family of r-bigraded complexes (A_r, d_r) , for $r \geq 0$, together with a family of isomorphisms of bigraded R-modules $\psi_r : H_*(A_r) \to A_{r+1}$ for $r \geq 0$, called *characteristic maps*.

A morphism of spectral sequences is a family of morphisms $f_r: A_r \to B_r$ of r-bigraded complexes, for $r \geq 0$, which is compatible with characteristic maps. We denote by \mathbf{SpSe}_R the category of spectral sequences.

Note that \mathbf{SpSe}_R is a subcategory of the product category $\prod_{r\geq 0} r\text{-bC}_R$. We will often omit the characteristic maps in the notation.

Note that a morphism of spectral sequences $f:(A,\psi)\to(B,\varphi)$ is completely determined by the 0-page, $f_0:A_0\to B_0$, since $f_{i+1}=\varphi_iH_*(f_i)\psi_i^{-1}$, for all $i\geq 0$. Furthermore, it is clear that the following proposition holds.

Proposition 3.1.2. The category of spectral sequences is an additive category.

Remark 3.1.3. There are various conventions for spectral sequences. We have chosen ours to be compatible with the conventions for filtered complexes and multicomplexes in previous work on related model category structures in [3, 4]. The differential on the r-page has bidegree (-r, 1-r). Of course, it is straightforward to translate our results to the standard setting of a homological spectral sequence where the corresponding bidegree is (-r, r-1) or that of a cohomological spectral sequence where it is (r, 1-r).

Remark 3.1.4. The category of spectal sequences \mathbf{SpSe}_R is neither complete nor cocomplete. Indeed, as in the following examples, cokernels and kernels do not exist in general in \mathbf{SpSe}_R . Thus it is not a pre-abelian category.

We write $R^{p,n}$ for the ring R in bidegree (p,n). We denote by R(p,n) the spectral sequence with the ring R concentrated in bidegree (p,n) and all differentials zero.

Example 3.1.5. Let S be the spectral sequence given by $S_0 = R^{0,0} \oplus R^{1,0}$ with $d_0 = 0$, $S_1 = R^{0,0} \oplus R^{1,0}$ with $d_1 = 1_R : R^{1,0} \to R^{0,0}$ and $S_{\geq 2} = 0$. The morphism of spectral sequences $f : R(0,0) \to S$ determined by $f_0^{0,0} = f_1^{0,0} = 1_R : R^{0,0} \to R^{0,0}$ has no cokernel.

Example 3.1.6. Let T be the spectral sequence given by $T_0 = R^{0,0} \oplus R^{0,1}$ with $d_0 = 1_R : R^{0,0} \to R^{0,1}$ and $T_{\geq 1} = 0$. The morphism of spectral sequences $\pi : T \to R(0,0)$ such that $\pi_0^{0,0} = 1_R : R^{0,0} \to R^{0,0}$ and $\pi_i = 0$ for i > 0 has no kernel.

3.2. Pullback of surjections.

Definition 3.2.1. A morphism of spectral sequences $f: A \to B$ is called a *surjection* if the morphism f_r is bidegreewise surjective for every $r \ge 0$. We write Sur for the class of surjective morphisms in $SpSe_R$.

Lemma 3.2.2. The category of spectral sequences $SpSe_R$ admits pullbacks of surjections along any map and this preserves surjections. Moreover, such pullbacks are computed pagewise.

Proof. Let



be a diagram of spectral sequences where p is a surjection. For $m \geq 0$, let X_m be the pullback in the category of m-bigraded complexes of the m-page of the spectral sequence. Since the category of m-bigraded complexes is abelian, and p_m is surjective we have a short exact sequence of m-bigraded complexes

$$0 \longrightarrow X_m \longrightarrow U_m \oplus A_m \stackrel{g_m - p_m}{\longrightarrow} B_m \longrightarrow 0$$

which yields a long exact sequence in homology. The map $H_*(g_m - p_m)$ is isomorphic to the map $(g_{m+1} - p_{m+1}) : U_{m+1} \oplus A_{m+1} \to B_{m+1}$, hence surjective, so that $H_*(X_m)$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Ker}(g_{m+1} - p_{m+1}) = X_{m+1}$. Hence the collection $X = (X_m)_{m \geq 0}$ is a spectral sequence.

We claim that this is the pullback of the diagram in the category of spectral sequences. For the universal property, given maps of spectral sequences $Y \to A$, $Y \to U$ making the diagram commute, we get a unique map of m-bigraded complexes $f_m: Y_m \to X_m$ making the diagram of m-pages commute, because X_m is the pullback on the m-page. Noting that the forgetful functor from m-bigraded complexes to bigraded modules preserves pullbacks, we see that $H(f_m) \cong f_{m+1}$ so that $f = (f_m)$ is the required unique map of spectral sequences.

Note that

$$X_m = \{(u, a) \mid g_m(u) = p_m(a), u \in U_m, a \in A_m\},\$$

so that the induced map $\pi_1: X \to U$ is a surjection.

Remark 3.2.3. The category $SpSe_R$ does not admit general pullbacks of epimorphisms, as shown by the following proposition and example.

Proposition 3.2.4. A morphism $f: A \to B$ of spectral sequences such that $f_0: A_0 \to B_0$ is surjective is an epimorphism.

Proof. Let $i, j : B \to X$ be morphisms of spectral sequences such that if = jf. In particular, we have $i_0 f_0 = j_0 f_0$ and since f_0 is surjective, we have $i_0 = j_0$. \square

Example 3.2.5. Let us consider the morphism $\pi: T \to R(0,0)$ of Example 3.1.6. It is an epimorphism because π_0 is surjective, but the pullback of π along the map $0 \to R(0,0)$ does not exist, because π does not admit a kernel.

4. Homotopy theory without model category structures

The goal of this paper is to describe the homotopy theory of spectral sequences with respect to E_r -quasi-isomorphism (see Definition 5.1.1). We cannot expect to have a model category structure on the category of spectral sequences with this class of maps as the class of weak equivalences since we have seen that this category is neither complete nor cocomplete.

Thus we will work with a weaker structure. Many variants are available in the literature; we will work with something close to what is known as a *Brown category*. In this section we introduce the homotopy theoretic material needed to achieve our goal.

4.1. Almost Brown categories. In this section we assume that the reader is familiar with the language of model categories, in particular with the notion of acyclic fibrations and fibrant objects.

Definition 4.1.1. An almost Brown category is a category \mathcal{C} with finite products and a final object e together with two distinguished classes of maps called weak equivalences (\mathcal{W}) and fibrations ($\mathcal{F}ib$), satisfying the following axioms.

- (A) Let f and g be composable morphisms. If any two of f, g and gf are weak equivalences, then so is the third. (That is, the class of weak equivalences satisfies the two-out-of-three property.) All isomorphisms are weak equivalences.
- (B) The composite of two fibrations is a fibration. All isomorphisms are fibrations.
- (C) The pullback of an acyclic fibration along any map exists and is an acyclic fibration.
- (D) Any morphism $u: X \to Y$ in \mathcal{C} can be factored u = pi with p a fibration and i right inverse to an acyclic fibration.
- (E) Any object of \mathcal{C} is fibrant.

In addition, if axiom (D) holds functorially, we will say that C is an almost Brown category with functorial factorization.

Definition 4.1.2. A functor $F: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ between almost Brown categories is called *left exact* if it preserves finite products, the class of fibrations, the class of acyclic fibrations and pullback of acyclic fibrations.

We recall that given an object B of C, a path space for B is an object B^I together with maps

$$B \xrightarrow{\iota} B^I \xrightarrow{(\partial_-,\partial_+)} B \times B$$

where ι is a weak equivalence, (∂_-, ∂_+) a fibration and the composite is the diagonal map. Note that axiom (D) of Definition 4.1.1 implies the existence of a path space for any object in an almost Brown category.

We next recall the original definition of K.S. Brown in [1].

Definition 4.1.3. A Brown category is a category with finite products and a final object e together with two distinguished classes of maps called weak equivalences (W) and fibrations ($\mathcal{F}ib$), satisfying the following axioms.

- (A) Let f and g be composable morphisms. If any two of f, g and gf are weak equivalences, then so is the third. All isomorphisms are weak equivalences.
- (B) The composite of two fibrations is a fibration. All isomorphisms are fibrations.

- (C') The pullback of a fibration along any map exists and is a fibration. The pullback of an acyclic fibration along any map exists and is an acyclic fibration.
- (D') For any object B there exists at least one path space B^I .
- (E) Every object is fibrant.

Remark 4.1.4. In a Brown category C, axiom (D') is equivalent to axiom (D). This is due to the factorization lemma, which is proved by using the axiom that the pullback of a fibration along any map exists and is a fibration. Concretely, any morphism $u: A \to B$ factorizes as

$$A \xrightarrow{(1_A, \iota u)} A \times_B B^I \xrightarrow{\partial_+ \pi_2} B$$

where the object $A \times_B B^I$ is called the mapping path space of u, the first map is a weak equivalence right inverse to an acyclic fibration and the second map is a fibration.

The following corollary is a direct consequence of the remark above.

Corollary 4.1.5. A Brown category is an almost Brown category. \Box

Remark 4.1.6. If \mathcal{C} is a model category, then the subcategory \mathcal{C}^f of fibrant objects of \mathcal{C} is a Brown category. If all objects of \mathcal{C} are fibrant, then it is a Brown category, hence an almost Brown category. A right Quillen functor between two model categories whose objects are all fibrant is a left exact functor in the sense of Definition 4.1.2.

Unfortunately, in our examples we do not have all the axioms of a Brown category, since we usually do not have pullbacks of fibrations, however we have path objects and the factorization induced by them, that is the mapping path space of a morphism.

4.2. Comparison with partial Brown categories of fibrant objects. In [7], Horel introduced the notion of a partial Brown category of cofibrant objects and in Remark 2.4 of loc. cit. it is noted that all the results dualize to the case of interest for us. This gives a setting for homotopy theory closely related to the one we have presented above and we compare the two here.

We start by making explicit the dual to Horel's Definition 2.2. The notation $\mathcal{C}^{[1]}$ denotes the arrow category of \mathcal{C} .

Definition 4.2.1. A partial Brown category of fibrant objects is a category C, with two subcategories wC and fC whose maps are called respectively the weak equivalences and acyclic fibrations such that the following axioms are satisfied.

(1) Both wC and fC contain the isomorphisms of C and fC is contained in wC.

- (2) The weak equivalences satisfy the two-out-of-three property.
- (3) The pullback of an acyclic fibration along any map exists and is an acyclic fibration.
- (4) There are three functors f, w, s from $w\mathcal{C}^{[1]} \to w\mathcal{C}^{[1]}$ such that for each weak equivalence g we have $g = f(g) \circ w(g), s(g) \circ w(g) = 1$ and f(g) and s(g) are in $f\mathcal{C}^{[1]}$.

The following proposition is immediate.

Proposition 4.2.2. If C is an almost Brown category with functorial factorization, then C is a partial Brown category of fibrant objects.

Definition 4.2.3. Let \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{D} be partial Brown categories of fibrant objects. A functor $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ is called *left exact* if it preserves weak equivalences, acyclic fibrations and pullbacks of acyclic fibrations.

Proposition 4.2.4. If C and D are almost Brown categories with functorial factorization, then a left exact functor $F: C \to D$ is also left exact as a functor of partial Brown categories.

Proof. We need to check that F preserves weak equivalences. Let u be a weak equivalence and factorize this as u = pi with p an acyclic fibration and i right inverse to an acyclic fibration. Then F(u) = F(p)F(i) and since F preserves acyclic fibrations, F(p) is an acyclic fibration and F(i) is right inverse to an acyclic fibration. This implies that F(i) is a weak equivalence and thus so is F(u).

5. Almost Brown category structures on spectral sequences In this section we again fix an integer $r \geq 0$.

5.1. E_r -quasi-isomorphisms and r-fibrations.

Definition 5.1.1. A morphism of spectral sequences $f: A \to B$ is called an E_r -quasi-isomorphism if the morphism $f_r: A_r \to B_r$ is a quasi-isomorphism of r-bigraded complexes, or equivalently if the morphisms f_k are isomorphisms for k > r.

A morphism of spectral sequences $f: A \to B$ is called an r-fibration if the morphisms f_k are surjective for $0 \le k \le r$.

We denote by \mathcal{E}_r the class of E_r -quasi-isomorphisms of \mathbf{SpSe}_R . This class contains all isomorphisms of \mathbf{SpSe}_R and satisfies the two-out-of-three property.

We denote by $\mathcal{F}ib_r$ the class of r-fibrations of \mathbf{SpSe}_R . This class contains all isomorphisms and is stable under composition.

Note that acyclic fibrations are those maps that are surjective at the k-page of the spectral sequence for $k \leq r$ and isomorphisms for k > r. In particular

the class of acyclic fibrations coincides with the class of surjective E_r -quasi-isomorphisms, that is $\mathcal{E}_r \cap \mathcal{F}ib_r = \mathcal{E}_r \cap \cap_s \mathcal{F}ib_s = \mathcal{E}_r \cap \mathcal{S}ur$.

It is clear that we have inclusions:

$$\mathcal{E}_r \subset \mathcal{E}_{r+1}, \quad \mathcal{F}ib_{r+1} \subset \mathcal{F}ib_r \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{E}_r \cap \mathcal{F}ib_r \subset \mathcal{E}_{r+1} \cap \mathcal{F}ib_{r+1}$$
 for all $r \geq 0$.

5.2. Mapping path space construction for spectral sequences. In this section we define a functorial r-path and an explicit r-mapping path space for any morphism in the category of spectral sequences.

Definition 5.2.1. Let Λ_r be the spectral sequence $Re_- \oplus Re_+ \oplus Ru$ where e_\pm are in bidegree (0,0) and u is in bidegree (-r,1-r), with all differentials zero except at the r-page of the spectral sequence where $d_r(e_-) = -u$, $d_r(e_+) = u$. The r+1-page of the spectral sequence is then concentrated in bidegree (0,0) with a single R-module, free of rank 1, generated by $e_+ + e_-$.

Note that we can consider $\Lambda_r \otimes A$ for any spectral sequence A and that this is again a spectral sequence.

We next define a collection of functorial paths indexed by an integer $r \geq 0$ on the category of spectral sequences, giving rise to the corresponding notions of r-homotopy.

Definition 5.2.2. The r-path of a spectral sequence A is the spectral sequence $P(r; A) = \Lambda_r \otimes A$. Explicitly, the pages of the spectral sequence P(r; A) are given by

$$P_m(r;A)^{p,q} := \begin{cases} A_m^{p,q} \oplus A_m^{p+r,q+r-1} \oplus A_m^{p,q}, & \text{if } 0 \le m \le r \\ A_m^{p,q}, & \text{if } m > r \end{cases}$$

with the differentials $D_m: P_m(r;A) \to P_m(r;A)$ of bidegree (-m,1-m) given by

$$D_m := \begin{pmatrix} d_m & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & (-1)^{m+r+1} d_m & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & d_m \end{pmatrix} \text{ for } m < r, \ D_r := \begin{pmatrix} d_r & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & -d_r & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & d_r \end{pmatrix}$$

and $D_m = d_m$ for m > r.

We have a factorisation of the diagonal map

$$R \xrightarrow{\iota} \Lambda_r \xrightarrow{(\partial_-, \partial_+)} R \times R$$

and thus morphisms of spectral sequences

$$A \xrightarrow{\iota_A} P(r;A) \xrightarrow{\partial_A^+} A \; ; \; \partial_A^{\pm} \circ \iota_A = 1_A,$$

given by $\partial_A^-(x,y,z) = x$, $\partial_A^+(x,y,z) = z$ and $\iota_A(x) = (x,0,x)$ on the *m*-page of the spectral sequence for $m \leq r$ and by the identity maps for m > r. We will often omit the subscripts of these maps when there is no danger of confusion.

The use of the term r-path is justified below. In particular, ι_A is an E_r -quasi-isomorphism. Furthermore $(\partial_A^+, \partial_A^-) : P(r; A) \to A \times A$ is an r-fibration. In addition ∂_A^+ and ∂_A^- are acyclic r-fibrations.

Definition 5.2.3. The r-path of a morphism $f:(A,d_m^A)\to (B,d_m^B)$ of spectral sequences is the morphism of spectral sequences $P(r;f):(P(r;A),D_m^A)\to (P(r;B),D_m^B)$ given by

$$P(r; f)_m := (f_m, (-1)^m f_m, f_m),$$

for $m \le r$ and $P(r; f) = f_m$ for m > r.

The above definitions give rise to a functorial path $P(r; -) : \mathbf{SpSe}_R \to \mathbf{SpSe}_R$ in the category of spectral sequences.

We would like to use this for the factorization of any morphism $u: A \to B$ of spectral sequences in the spirit of Remark 4.1.4. We remark that the r-mapping path space $\overline{P}(r;u) := A \times_B P(r;B)$ of u exists and takes the following form

$$\overline{P}(r;u)_m^{p,q} := \begin{cases} A_m^{p,q} \oplus B_m^{p+r,q+r-1} \oplus B_m^{p,q}, & \text{if } 0 \le m \le r, \\ A_m^{p,q}, & \text{if } m > r, \end{cases}$$

with differentials $D_m: \overline{P}(r;u)_m \to \overline{P}(r;u)_m$ of bidegree (-m,-m+1) given by

$$D_m = \begin{pmatrix} d_m^A & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & (-1)^{m+r+1} d_m^B & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & d_m^B \end{pmatrix} \text{ for } m < r, \quad D_r = \begin{pmatrix} d_r^A & 0 & 0 \\ -u_r & -d_r^B & 1_B \\ 0 & 0 & d_r^B \end{pmatrix}$$

and D_m is induced by d_m^A for m > r. The factorization of u as

$$A \xrightarrow{i} \overline{P}(r; u) \xrightarrow{p} B$$

takes the following form

$$i_m(a) = \begin{cases} (a, 0, u_m(a)), & \text{if } 0 \le m \le r, \\ a, & \text{if } m > r \end{cases} \text{ and }$$
$$p_m(a, b', b) = \begin{cases} b, & \text{if } 0 \le m \le r, \\ u_m(a), & \text{if } m > r. \end{cases}$$

The map i is right inverse to an acyclic fibration, namely the projection of $\overline{P}(r;u)$ onto A. It is clear from the formulas that p is an r-fibration and that the factorization is functorial.

5.3. Homotopy theory of spectral sequences.

Theorem 5.3.1. The category of spectral sequences together with the class \mathcal{E}_r of E_r -quasi-isomorphisms and the class $\mathcal{F}ib_r$ of r-fibrations is an almost Brown category with functorial factorization. Hence it is a partial Brown category of fibrant objects.

Proof. Axioms (A), (B) and (E) are clearly satisfied. Let us show axiom (C). Let $p:C\to B$ be an acyclic r-fibration and let $u:A\to B$ be a morphism in \mathbf{SpSe}_R . Any acyclic r-fibration is surjective, and by Lemma 3.2.2, the pullback of p along u exists and is the spectral sequence X whose m-page is described by $X_m = \{(a,c) \in A_m \times C_m) \mid u_m(a) = p_m(b)\}$ with induced map $\pi_1: X \to A$ the projection to the first factor. The proof of that lemma shows that if p_r is a quasi-isomorphism so is the r-page $(\pi_1)_r$ of π_1 . Axiom (D) follows from the mapping path space construction of Section 5.2.

Notation 5.3.2. We write $(\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r$ for the almost Brown category of spectral sequences with the structure specified in Theorem 5.3.1.

Recall that we have inclusions:

$$\mathcal{E}_r \subset \mathcal{E}_{r+1}, \quad \mathcal{F}ib_{r+1} \subset \mathcal{F}ib_r \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{E}_r \cap \mathcal{F}ib_r \subset \mathcal{E}_{r+1} \cap \mathcal{F}ib_{r+1}$$

for all $r \geq 0$. Thus, for $r \leq s$, the identity functor $\mathrm{Id} : (\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r \to (\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_s$ preserves weak equivalences and acyclic fibrations, but not fibrations. Therefore it is not left exact as a functor of almost Brown categories, but it is left exact when viewed as a functor of the corresponding partial Brown categories.

5.4. r-homotopies. As in classical homotopy theory, the functorial r-path $P(r;-): \mathbf{SpSe}_R \to \mathbf{SpSe}_R$ yields a natural notion of homotopy: for $f,g:A\to B$ two morphisms of spectral sequences, an r-homotopy from f to g is given by a morphism of spectral sequences $h:A\to P(r;B)$ such that $\partial_B^- \circ h = f$ and $\partial_B^+ \circ h = g$. We use the notation $h:f \cong g$. An r-homotopy equivalence is a morphism of spectral sequences $f:A\to B$ such that there exists a morphism $g:B\to A$ satisfying $f\circ g\cong h$ and $g\circ f\cong h$ and $g\circ f\cong h$.

Proposition 5.4.1. The notion of r-homotopy defines an equivalence relation on the set of morphisms between two given spectral sequences, which is compatible with the composition.

Proof. Unravelling the definition we have that if $f, g: (A, d_m^A) \to (B, d_m^B)$ are two morphisms of spectral sequences, then $f \simeq g$ if and only if there exists a collection of morphisms $\hat{h}_m: A_m \to B_m$ of bigraded modules, of bidegree (r, r-1), for all $0 \le m \le r$, satisfying

$$\begin{cases} (-1)^{m+r+1} d_m^B \widehat{h}_m - \widehat{h}_m d_m^A = 0, & \text{if } 0 \le m < r, \\ -d_r^B \widehat{h}_r - \widehat{h}_r d_r^A = f_r - g_r, \end{cases}$$

and $H_*(\widehat{h}_m) = \widehat{h}_{m+1}$ for $0 \le m < r$. The proposition then follows.

Denote by S_r the class of r-homotopy equivalences of \mathbf{SpSe}_R . This class is closed under composition and contains all isomorphisms. In addition, we have $S_r \subseteq S_{r+1}$ and $S_r \subseteq \mathcal{E}_r$, for all $r \ge 0$.

Proposition 5.4.2. The localized category $\operatorname{SpSe}_R[\mathcal{S}_r^{-1}]$ is canonically isomorphic to the quotient category $\operatorname{SpSe}_R/\widetilde{r}$.

Proof. The proof is classical, and requires that the morphism from a spectral sequence A to its path space $\iota_A:(A,d_m)\longrightarrow (P(r;A),D_m)$, is not only an E_r -quasi-isomorphism but also an r-homotopy equivalence. We prove this statement. Recall that $(\iota_A)_m(x)=(x,0,x)$ for $m\leq r$ and $(\iota_A)_m=1_A$ for m>r. Since $\partial_A^-\iota_A=1_A$, it suffices to define an r-homotopy from $1_{P(r;A)}$ to $\iota_A\partial_A^-$. Consider the morphism $\widehat{h}_m:P(r;A)\to P(r;A)$ of bidegree (r,r-1) defined by $\widehat{h}_m(x,y,z)=(0,0,-y)$ for $0\leq m\leq r$. It is clear that for m< r we have $(-1)^{m+r-1}D_m\widehat{h}_m-\widehat{h}_mD_m=0$, $H_*(\widehat{h}_m)=\widehat{h}_{m+1}$ and

$$(-D_r\widehat{h}_r - \widehat{h}_r D_r)(x, y, z) = (0, y, d_r y) + (0, 0, -d_r y - x + z) = (x, y, z) - (x, 0, x).$$

As in the proof of Proposition 5.4.1 this implies that ι_A is an r-homotopy equivalence.

In section 6, we will compare this notion of homotopy for spectral sequences with notions for filtered complexes and multicomplexes.

5.5. Generation of r-fibrations and acyclic r-fibrations. This section is devoted to the description of r-fibrations and acyclic r-fibrations as maps having the right lifting property with respect to a set of morphisms in \mathbf{SpSe}_R . We adopt the language of model categories. For I a class of maps in \mathbf{SpSe}_R , we say that a morphism of spectral sequences f is I-injective if it has the right lifting property with respect to I.

To describe the generating sets, we first introduce some basic objects.

Definition 5.5.1. Let $p, n \in \mathbb{Z}$. For all $r \geq 0$, let $\mathcal{D}_r(p, n)$ be the spectral sequence defined as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_r(p,n)_i = R^{p,n} \oplus R^{p-r,n+1-r}, & d_i = 0, \text{ for } 0 \le i < r, \\ \mathcal{D}_r(p,n)_r = R^{p,n} \xrightarrow{1} R^{p-r,n+1-r}, & \\ \mathcal{D}_r(p,n)_i = 0, & \text{for } i > r. \end{cases}$$

For all $r \ge 1$ define

$$S_r(p,n) := \mathcal{D}_{r-1}(p-1,n-1) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{r-1}(p+r-1,n+r-2)$$

For all $r \ge 1$ define a morphism of spectral sequences

$$\varphi_r: \mathcal{D}_r(p,n) \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}_r(p,n)$$

via the identity on R whenever it is bigradedly defined.

Definition 5.5.2. Let (A, φ) be a spectral sequence.

- (1) A sequence of elements $(a_0^{p,n},\ldots,a_{m+1}^{p,n})$ with $a_i^{p,n}\in A_i^{p,n}$ is said to be compatible if for every $0\leq i\leq m,\ d_ia_i^{p,n}=0$ and $a_{i+1}^{p,n}=\varphi_i([a_i^{p,n}])$ where $[a_i^{p,n}]$ is the class of $a_i^{p,n}$ in $H_*(A_i)$.
- (2) Denote by $D_r^{p,n}(A)$ the R-submodule of $A^{\times(2r+2)}$ consisting of pairs

$$(a_0^{p,n},\ldots,a_r^{p,n});(b_0^{p-r,n+1-r},\ldots,b_r^{p-r,n+1-r})$$

of compatible sequences satisfying $d_r a_r^{p,n} = b_r^{p-r,n+1-r}$. This yields a functor, denoted by $D_r^{p,n} : \mathbf{SpSe}_R \to \mathrm{Mod}_R$.

The following proposition is a direct consequence of the definitions.

Proposition 5.5.3. Let (A, φ) be a spectral sequence.

- (1) There is a one-to-one correspondence between infinite compatible sequences $(a_0^{p,n},\ldots,a_m^{p,n},\ldots)$ and morphisms of spectral sequences $R(p,n) \to A$.
- (2) We have $D_r^{p,n} = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{SpSe}_R}(\mathcal{D}_r(p,n), -)$, that is, $D_r^{p,n}$ is represented by $\mathcal{D}_r(p,n)$.

Definition 5.5.4. Let I_r and J_r be the sets of morphisms of \mathbf{SpSe}_R given by

$$I_r := \{ \varphi_{r+1} : \mathcal{D}_{r+1}(p,n) \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}_{r+1}(p,n) \}_{p,n \in \mathbb{Z}} \text{ and } J_r := \{ 0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}_r(p,n) \}_{p,n \in \mathbb{Z}}.$$

Let I'_r and J'_r be the sets of morphisms of \mathbf{SpSe}_R given by

$$I'_r := \bigcup_{k=0}^{r-1} J_k \cup I_r \text{ and } J'_r := \bigcup_{k=0}^r J_k.$$

Proposition 5.5.5. A morphism of spectral sequences is an r-fibration if and only if it has the right lifting property with respect to J'_r .

Proof. Let $f:(A,\varphi)\to (B,\psi)$ be a morphism of spectral sequences. It is clear that if f is J_r -injective then f_r is bidegreewise surjective. It is also clear that f is J_0 -injective if and only if f_0 is bidegreewise surjective. Assume that for every $0\leq i\leq r$ we have that f_i is bidegreewise surjective. Let $(b_0,\ldots,b_r;b_0',\ldots,b_r')$ in $D_r^{p,n}(B)$. Since f_r is surjective, there exists $a_r\in A_r$ such that $f_r(a_r)=b_r$ hence $f_r(d_ra_r)=b_r'$. We set $a_r'=d_ra_r$. Pick u_{r-1} a cycle in A_{r-1} such that $\varphi([u_{r-1}])=a_r$. Hence $\psi([f_{r-1}(u_{r-1})])=f_r(a_r)=b_r=\psi[b_{r-1}]$ and there exists $y\in B_{r-1}$ such that $f_{r-1}(u_{r-1})=b_{r-1}+d_{r-1}y$. And $y=f_{r-1}(x)$ for some x since f_{r-1} is surjective. Hence $f_{r-1}=f_{r-1}(u_{r-1}-d_{r-1}x)$ and $f_{r-1}=f_{r-1}+f_{r-1}(x)$ satisfies the required conditions. By induction, we obtain that there exists $f_r(a_r)=f_r(a_r)=f_r(a_r)$ in $f_r(a_r)=f_r(a_r)=f_r(a_r)$ and $f_r(a_r)=f_r(a_r)=f_r(a_r)$ in $f_r(a_r)=f_r(a_r)$ in $f_r(a_r$

Note that this proposition can be stated as $f: A \to B$ is an r-fibration if and only if for every $0 \le k \le r$ and for every $p, n \in \mathbb{Z}$, $D_k^{p,n}(f)$ is surjective.

Proposition 5.5.6. A morphism of spectral sequences is an acyclic r-fibration if and only if it has the right lifting property with respect to I'_r .

Proof. Assume first that $f: A \to B$ is I'_r -injective. Then f_k is bidegreewise surjective for every $0 \le k \le r-1$. Let us show that f_r is surjective on cycles. Let $b_r \in B_r^{p+r,n+r-1}$ be such that $d_r(b_r) = 0$. One can then build a sequence $(b_0, \ldots, b_{r-1}, b_r; 0, \ldots, 0)$ in $D_r^{p+r,n+r-1}(B)$ which yields a commutative diagram

$$\mathcal{D}_{r+1}(p,n) \xrightarrow{0} A$$

$$\varphi_{r+1} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f$$

$$\mathcal{S}_{r+1}(p,n) \xrightarrow{b_r} B$$

This diagram admits a lift, giving rise to an element $(a_0, \ldots, a_r; 0, \ldots, 0)$ in $D_r^{p+r,n+r-1}(A)$ satisfying $d_r a_r = 0$ and $f_i(a_i) = b_i$ for $0 \le i \le r$. This proves that f_r is surjective on cycles, and thus that f_{r+1} is surjective.

Let us show that f_r is surjective. Let $b_r \in B_r^{p+r,n+r-1}$. One can choose compatible sequences: $(b_0,\ldots,b_r;b_0',\ldots,b_r')$ in $D_r^{p+r,n+r-1}(B)$ and from the first part a lift $a'=(a_0',\ldots,a_r')$ of (b_0',\ldots,b_r') since $d_rb_r'=d_rd_rb_r=0$, which yields again a commutative diagram

$$\mathcal{D}_{r+1}(p,n) \xrightarrow{a'} A$$

$$\varphi_{r+1} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f$$

$$\mathcal{S}_{r+1}(p,n) \xrightarrow{b_r} B$$

admitting a lift. This gives an element $a_r \in A_r$ such that $d_r a_r = a'_r$ and $f_r(a_r) = b_r$. As a consequence f is J'_r -injective, and thus an r-fibration.

We have proved that f_{r+1} is surjective. Let us show that f_{r+1} is injective. Let $a_{r+1} \in A_{r+1}$ be such that $f_{r+1}(a_{r+1}) = 0$ and $(a_0, \ldots, a_{r+1}; a'_0, \ldots, a'_{r+1}) \in D_{r+1}(A)$ which represents a_{r+1} . Since $f_{r+1}(a_{r+1}) = 0$, we have $f_{r+1}(a'_{r+1}) = 0$ and there exist $b_r, c_r \in B_r$ such that $d_r(b_r) = f(a_r)$ and $d_r(c_r) = f_r(a'_r)$. This induces the following diagram denoted (*)

$$\mathcal{D}_{r+1}(p,n) \xrightarrow{a_{r+1}} A$$

$$\downarrow^{\varphi_{r+1}} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{f}$$

$$\mathcal{S}_{r+1}(p,n) \xrightarrow{(c_r,b_r)} B$$

which admits a lift. In particular, there exists α_r with $d_r\alpha_r = a_r$. Hence $[a_r] = [0]$, that is $a_{r+1} = 0$.

Conversely, assume f is an acyclic r-fibration. Consider the diagram (*). Since $f_{r+1}(a_{r+1}) = 0$ and f_{r+1} is an isomorphism we deduce that $a_{r+1} = 0$ so

that a_r is a boundary, as well as a'_r . We conclude that a lift exists using the fact that $D_r(f)$ is surjective.

6. Comparisons with filtered complexes and multicomplexes

In this section we compare $(\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r$ with corresponding structures on filtered complexes and multicomplexes. In previous work [3] we have established model category structures on these categories where the weak equivalences are the E_r -quasi-isomorphisms. Thus we are able to compare the underlying almost Brown category structures with $(\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r$.

6.1. Filtered complexes. Let FC_R be the category of filtered complexes and let $(FC_R)_r$ denote this category with the r-model structure of [3, Theorem 3.16]. We consider it as an almost Brown category where the weak equivalences are the E_r -quasi-isomorphisms and the fibrations are the maps such that $Z_0(f)$ is surjective and $E_i(f)$ is surjective for $0 \le i \le r$.

Proposition 6.1.1. The spectral sequence functor $E: (\mathbf{FC}_R)_r \to (\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r$ preserves weak equivalences and is a left exact functor of almost Brown categories.

Proof. It is clear that E preserves finite products, weak equivalences, fibrations and acyclic fibrations. For the pullback condition, consider the diagram:

$$U \xrightarrow{q} B$$

in $(\mathbf{F}\mathbf{C}_R)_r$ where p is an acyclic fibration. The pullback in $\mathbf{F}\mathbf{C}_R$ is

$$X = \text{Ker}(p - g : U \oplus A \to B) = \{(u, a) \mid g(u) = p(a), u \in U, a \in A\},\$$

with d(u, a) = (du, da), since FC_R is a pre-abelian category. Using the surjectivity of $E_i(p)$ for all i, the same proof as in Lemma 3.2.2 shows that the associated spectral sequence has

$$E(X)_i = \{(u, a) \mid E(g)(u) = E(p)(a), u \in E(U)_i, a \in E(A)_i\}.$$

That is, it has the pagewise pullback of *i*-bigraded complexes as its *i*-page and, by Lemma 3.2.2, this is the pullback in \mathbf{SpSe}_{R} .

Recall the notion of r-homotopy between morphisms of filtered complexes from Definition 2.2.3.

Proposition 6.1.2. The spectral sequence functor $E: (\mathbf{FC}_R)_r \to (\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r$ preserves r-homotopy.

Proof. The notion of r-homotopy between morphisms $f,g:A\to B$ of filtered complexes can be formulated in terms of a version Λ_r^{FC} of Λ_r in filtered complexes. Let $\Lambda_r^{FC}=Re_-\oplus Re_+\oplus Ru$ where e_-,e_+ are in degree 0 and filtration 0 and u is in degree 1 and filtration -r. The differential is determined by $d(e_-)=-u, d(e_+)=u$. And we have morphisms $\partial^-,\partial^+:\Lambda_r^{FC}\to R$ given by projection to Re_- and Re_+ respectively. Then giving an r-homotopy from f to g is equivalent to giving a morphism of filtered complexes $h:A\to\Lambda_r^{FC}\otimes B$ such that $\partial_B^-\circ h=f$ and $\partial_B^+\circ h=g$.

such that $\partial_B^- \circ h = f$ and $\partial_B^+ \circ h = g$. The associated spectral sequence $E(\Lambda_r^{FC})$ is Λ_r as in Definition 5.2.1 and more generally $E(\Lambda_r^{FC} \otimes A) \cong \Lambda_r \otimes E(A)$. Thus an r-homotopy h between f and g gives rise to an r-homotopy E(h) between E(f) and E(g).

6.2. Multicomplexes. Recall that we write $n\text{-mC}_R$ for the category of n-multicomplexes and strict morphisms. Here $2 \leq n \leq \infty$, where the case $n = \infty$ is the category of multicomplexes. An n-multicomplex has an associated functorial spectral sequence, described explicitly in [8]. Indeed there is a totalization functor to filtered complexes and then we take the associated spectral sequence. That is, we have a commutative diagram:

$$n\text{-mC}_R \xrightarrow{E'} \mathbf{SpSe}_R$$

$$\downarrow^{\mathrm{Tot}} \xrightarrow{E}$$

$$\mathbf{FC}_R$$

Note that we write $E' = E \circ \text{Tot}$ for the composite functor, but we will often drop the dash and just write E_i for the pages of the spectral sequence associated to a multicomplex.

We write $(n\text{-mC}_R)_r$ for the category of n-multicomplexes and strict morphisms with the r-model structure of [4, Theorem 3.30]. We use the same notation for the corresponding almost Brown category where the weak equivalences are the E_r -quasi-isomorphisms and the fibrations are the maps f such that $E_i(f)$ is surjective for $0 \le i \le r$.

Proposition 6.2.1. The spectral sequence functor $E':(n-mC_R)_r \to (\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r$ preserves weak equivalences and is a left exact functor of almost Brown categories.

Proof. It is clear that E' preserves finite products, weak equivalences and fibrations. For the pullback condition, consider the diagram:



in n-mC $_R$. The pullback in n-mC $_R$ exists and it is

$$X = \text{Ker}(p - g : U \oplus A \to B) = \{(u, a) \mid g(u) = p(a), u \in U, a \in A\},\$$

with $d_i(u, a) = (d_i u, d_i a)$ for all $i \geq 0$. Indeed, the category $n\text{-mC}_R$ has a description as a module category given in [4, Proposition 4.4] and so it is abelian.

Let Y_i denote the pullback in *i*-bigraded complexes of

$$E_{i}(A)$$

$$\downarrow^{E_{i}(p)}$$

$$E_{i}(U) \xrightarrow{E_{i}(g)} E_{i}(B)$$

and note that $E_0(X) \cong Y_0$ as 0-bigraded complexes.

Now suppose that p is an acyclic fibration, in particular $E_i(p)$ is surjective for all i, and assume that $E_n(X) \cong Y_n$ as n-bigraded complexes.

As in Lemma 3.2.2, we have $Y_{n+1} \cong \ker(E_{n+1}(p) - E_{n+1}(g))$ and the argument of that proof also shows that we have an isomorphism of underlying bigraded R-modules $E_{n+1}(X) \cong Y_{n+1}$. It remains to check that this can be upgraded to an isomorphism of (n+1)-bigraded complexes and this can be seen from the explicit description of the differentials in the spectral sequence of a multicomplex in [8].

Then E'(X) has the pagewise pullback of *i*-bigraded complexes as its *i*-page and, by Lemma 3.2.2, this is the pullback in \mathbf{SpSe}_{R} .

Remark 6.2.2. Note that the proof shows that E' preserves pullbacks along any map of any map p such that $E_i(p)$ is surjective for all i.

Remark 6.2.3. Note that in this multicomplex case E' also reflects the weak equivalences and fibrations.

Proposition 6.2.4. For $n = \infty$, the spectral sequence functor $E' : (n-mC_R)_r \to (\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r$ preserves the r-path.

Proof. The r-path for multicomplexes was defined in [2, Definition 3.14]. From the explicit description of the spectral sequence of a multicomplex, it is straightforward to see that the spectral sequence corresponding to the multicomplex $P_r(A)$ is P(r; E(A)). We have $E(\iota_A) = \iota_{E(A)}$, $E(\delta_B^-) = \delta_{E(B)}^-$ and $E(\delta_B^+) = \delta_{E(B)}^+$.

Proposition 6.2.5. The spectral sequence functor $E': (n\text{-mC}_R)_r \to (\mathbf{SpSe}_R)_r$ preserves r-homotopy.

Proof. We start with the case $n = \infty$. Here an r-homotopy between morphisms of multicomplexes $f, g: C \to D$ is defined in [2, Definition 3.16] as an ∞ -morphism of multicomplexes $h: C \to P_r(D)$ such that $\partial_D^- \circ h = f$ and $\partial_D^+ \circ h = g$.

We write tC_R for the category of multicomplexes with ∞ -morphisms. By [2, Theorem 3.8], we have a totalisation functor $Tot : tC_R \to \mathbf{F}C_R$. We can refine the commutative diagram given earlier to

$$n\text{-mC}_R \xrightarrow{i_n} \infty\text{-mC}_R \xrightarrow{i} \mathrm{tC}_R \xrightarrow{\tilde{E}} \mathbf{SpSe}_R$$

$$\mathsf{FC}_R$$

where i_n and i are inclusions of subcategories and the Tot discussed earlier can be obtained as the composite of the inclusions and the Tot on tC_R .

Thus, using Proposition 6.2.4, we have a morphism of spectral sequences $E(h): E(C) \to E(P_r(D)) = P(r; E(D))$. Since $E(\partial_D^-) = \partial_{E(D)}^-$ and $E(\partial_D^+) = \partial_{E(D)}^+$, it follows from Section 5.4 that E(h) is an r-homotopy between E(f) and E(g).

For $n < \infty$, an r-path object for n-multicomplexes was given in [4, Definition 5.5], giving rise to a notion of r-homotopy. Let us write P_r^n for the r-path in n-multicomplexes, in order to distinguish it from P_r , the r-path in multicomplexes. These r-paths can be expressed in the form $P_r^n(C) = \Lambda_r^n \otimes C$ and $P_r(C) = \Lambda_r \otimes C$. The two can be compared in the category of multicomplexes, since there is a natural transformation $P_r^n \to P_r$ such that $P_r^n(C) = \Lambda_r^n \otimes C \to P_r(C) = \Lambda_r \otimes C$ is $\alpha \otimes 1_C$, where α is the identity in bidegrees where this is possible and zero otherwise.

Let $h: C \to P_r(D)$ be an r-homotopy from f to g in n-mC_R. Then $(\alpha \otimes 1_D) \circ h$ gives an r-homotopy from f to g in multicomplexes. In other words, the inclusion of n-multicomplexes into multicomplexes preserves homotopy.

Remark 6.2.6. The inclusion i_n of n-multicomplexes into multicomplexes also reflects homotopy. Indeed $i(P_r^n)$ gives another functorial path for multicomplexes and so gives rise to an equivalent notion of homotopy.

REFERENCES

- [1] K. S. Brown. Abstract homotopy theory and generalized sheaf cohomology. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 186:419–458, 1973.
- [2] J. Cirici, D. Egas Santander, M. Livernet, and S. Whitehouse. Derived A-infinity algebras and their homotopies. *Topology and its applications*, 235:214–268, 2018.
- [3] J. Cirici, D. Egas Santander, M. Livernet, and S. Whitehouse. Model category structures and spectral sequences. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A*, 150(6):2815–2848, 2020.
- [4] X. Fu, A. Guan, M. Livernet, and S. Whitehouse. Model category structures on multi-complexes. *Topology and its Applications*, 316(Paper No. 108104), 2022.
- [5] P. G. Goerss and J. F. Jardine. Simplicial homotopy theory, volume 174 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1999.
- [6] F. Guillén, V. Navarro, P. Pascual, and A. Roig. A Cartan-Eilenberg approach to homotopical algebra. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 214(2):140–164, 2010.

- [7] G. Horel. Brown categories and bicategories. *Homology Homotopy Appl.*, 18(2):217–232, 2016.
- [8] M. Livernet, S. Whitehouse, and S. Ziegenhagen. On the spectral sequence associated to a multicomplex. *J. Pure Appl. Algebra*, 224(2):528–535, 2020.
- [9] F. Waldhausen. Algebraic K-theory of spaces. In Algebraic and geometric topology (New Brunswick, N.J., 1983), volume 1126 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 318–419. Springer, Berlin, 1985.
- (M. Livernet) Univ Paris Cité, Institut de Mathématiques de Jussieu-Paris Rive Gauche, CNRS, Sorbonne Université, 8 place Aurélie Nemours, F-75013, Paris, France

Email address: muriel.livernet@imj-prg.fr

(S. Whitehouse) School of Mathematics and Statistics, University of Sheffield, S3 7RH, England

Email address: s.whitehouse@sheffield.ac.uk